### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

	Appeal No: 89,131	
	JASON K. ALMERICO, et al.	
	Petitioners,	
	Vs.	
	RLI INSURANCE COMPANY	
	Respondents.	
On A	Appeal from the Second District Court of Appeal	,

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

LEE D. GUNN, IV, ESQUIRE
Fl. Bar No: 367192
KELLY K. GRIFFIN, ESQUIRE
Fl. Bar No: 985309
GUNN, OGDEN & SULLIVAN, P.A.
100 North Tampa St.. 2900
Post Office Box 1006
Tampa, Florida 33602
813/223 -5111
Councel for Petitioners

# **

#### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

In this brief, the Petitioners, Jason L. Almerico and the Phoenix Insurance Company are referred to as "Almerico and Phoenix" or as "Petitioners" unless specifically referred to the contrary. Respondent, RLI Insurance Company, is referred to by the abbreviated name "RLI" or as the "Respondent". J. R. Pliego and Pliego Insurance, Inc. d/b/a J. R. Insurance are referred to throughout simply as "Pliego" unless otherwise specifically referenced. Citations to the original record on appeal by made by the letter "R." followed by the appropriate page number. Citations to Appendix A are made by the letter "B." followed by the appropriate page number. Citations to Appendix B are made by the letter "B." followed by the appropriate page number. Citations to Appendix C are made by the letter "C." followed by the appropriate page number. Citations to Appendix D are made by the letter "D." followed by the appropriate page number. Citations to Appendix E are made by the letter "E." followed by the appropriate page number.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This dispute arises out of claims against an RLI personal umbrella insurance policy ("PUP") issued to the Collados. RLI asserts that it is entitled to rescind its policy after a covered loss based upon material misrepresentations in the application. Almerico and Phoenix assert that the insurer is estopped from rescission since its producing agent, Pliego, was aware of these material facts when taking the application. Despite supplying Pliego with its blank applications and other program materials and identifying Pliego as an RLI agent and producer on its applications, RLI contends Pliego is not its actual or apparent agent, as a matter of law.

RLI is an insurance company licensed to do business in the State of Florida. (R. 203) RLI marketed the national PUP Program through a network of state administrators and participating local agents (producers). RLI's marketing structure is analogous to a manufacturer/wholesaler/retailer relationship. (R. 222) RLI's PUP Program was outlined by a document entitled:

#### WHOLESALER RLI PERSONAL UMBRELLA AGENT ENTRY ADMINISTRATOR RESPONSIBILITIES/GUIDELINES

(R. 428-430; 1050-1052) According to this document, the administrator is responsible for all communications with "producing agents" regarding customer service, rate revision and guideline changes, application changes, and the mailing of weekly status reports to each individual producing agent. RLI authorized the state administrator to supply the producing agents selected to market the PUP Program with blank RLI applications, underwriting guidelines and other materials used to solicit and effectuate issuance of RLI policies. (R. 225; 243-244) RLI knew that only the producing agent would have contact with the applicant. (R. 255-256)

In 1989, RLI took great steps in drafting a "self-underwriting" application. (R. 213-213) The application format was designed so that eligibility for the PUP Program would be evident on the face of the RLI application. (R. 215) The underwriting unit of RLI reviewed the answers to the questions on the application. (R. 216) If the stated answers were within underwriting guidelines, RLI would issue a policy without further underwriting inquiry. (R. 216) Because PUP underwriting was based upon the self-underwriting application, RLI wanted an insurance

professional familiar with its program to review and countersign the application. (R. 255) In fact, RLI would <u>only</u> accept business from a participating producing agent who countersigned the RLI application. (R. 251; 255; 541) The application contains no express limitation on the authority of Pliego. In fact, RLI admits that it required no such limitation either in the application, or as conveyed by the agent himself. (R. 242)

In 1988, Haynes Brinkley was a Georgia-based brokerage which acted to administer the PUP Program in Florida. (R.436-437) Thereafter, in 1989, Haynes Brinkley became involved in a bankruptcy proceeding and a Florida-based brokerage, Poe and Associates ("Poe"), was substituted as RLI's administrator in Florida. (R. 209-210; 510; 855-856) Poe was expressly authorized to engage producing agents for the PUP Program and to send the blank RLI applications, guidelines, and informational brochures about the PUP Program to the producers. (R. 225; 243-244) RLI assigned a group/range of "agent numbers" to Poe, which Poe then assigned to the producers. (R. 228)

Pliego Insurance, Inc. d/b/a J.R. Insurance Agency is an insurance agency located in Tampa, Florida. (R. 828; 831; 834-835) The agency is operated by J. R. Pliego who holds a general lines agent license. (R. 832; 834-835; 872-873) This license authorizes J. R. Pliego's agency to act on behalf of insurers writing personal and commercial property and casualty insurance in this state. (R. 873) See § 626.311, Florida Statutes (1989). Pliego is an "independent" insurance agent, meaning he was authorized by several different insurance companies to negotiate their insurance contracts. (R. 859)

In order to provide an umbrella insurance line of coverage, Pliego established a relationship with the RLI PUP Program in 1988 through Haynes Brinkley.<sup>1</sup> (R. 855-856) After Poe took over from Haynes Brinkley, Pliego was added to Poe's list of RLI producing agents. (R. 588) By letter dated March 29, 1989, Poe corresponded with Pliego, enclosing blank RLI

<sup>1.</sup> Prior to 1988, American Mutual offered personal umbrella policies and the Collados maintained both primary and excess coverage with American Mutual. (R. 855-856) In 1988, American Mutual stopped offering excess policies and Pliego needed to establish a new relationship with a carrier so that he could continue to sell this type of policy. (R. 855-856)

applications, and other supplies, including a procedures manual and marketing brochures. (R. 588) The cover letter advised as follows:

When submitting your first application, please forward it to my attention, and an agent number will be assigned to your agency. This number will be used for identification purposes.

Also, please forward with your first application submission a copy of your resident agent license and we will automatically arrange for licensing.

(R. 588) In due course, Pliego was assigned "RLI Agent Number 2020." <sup>2</sup> (R. 589-590) In order to maintain his status as a member of the RLI family of producing agents, Pliego was expected to produce a minimum of ten (10) policies per year. (R. 588)

J. R. Pliego knew the Collados even before he got into the insurance business. (R. 839) They are relatives of his ex-wife. (R. 838-839) For many years, the Collados purchased their insurance from companies Pliego represented. (R. 665; 670-671; 838-839) In August of 1988, the Collados continued to desire excess coverage above their primary policy with American Mutual Fire Insurance ("American Mutual"). (R. 855) Since American Mutual was not offering an umbrella line of insurance at that time, Pliego placed the coverage with RLI. (R. 847; 855; 602; 687) Accordingly, on July 25, 1988, Pliego completed and signed an RLI PUP application identifying Pliego as the agent of RLI. (R. 602; 687; 847)

The 1988 RLI application indicated two household drivers under the age of 26, sons Daron and Derrick Collado, and four vehicles. (R. 620-621; 847; 887-888; 895) An RLI PUP policy in the amount of one million dollars (\$1,000,000.00) with a policy period from August 6, 1988 to August 6, 1989 was issued to the Collados on the basis of that application. (R. 439-444) Enclosed with the RLI policy, RLI sent a letter to its new insureds thanking them for their business. (R. 444) The letter assured the Collados that they would have umbrella coverage in the event of a lawsuit. Specifically, the letter stated:

This coverage provides \$1,000,000 of personal liability protection over and above the basic policy limits described in your application. That's coverage for you and your dependents, anywhere in the

<sup>2.</sup> Pliego forwarded his first RLI application to Poe along with a copy of his license in early April, 1989. (R. 587)

world, 365 days a year. You'll rest more easily with the knowledge that a personal liability lawsuit involving a covered injury to another person or damage to someone else's property will not take away the savings and property you've earned over the years.

\* \* \*

Be confident in the knowledge that you have RLI's Personal Umbrella insurance for a time when you need it most.

(R.444)

The 1989 underwriting guidelines restricted eligibility for the PUP Program. (R. 432) RLI was experiencing its greatest exposures in circumstances of "youthful" drivers (under the age of 26) and "high performance" vehicles (e.g., an RX-7). (R. 432) Thus, the 1989 guidelines rendered households with both youthful drivers and high performance automobiles ineligible for the PUP Program. (R. 432)

Once again, the Collados wished to maintain an umbrella policy to protect them from excess exposures. In August of 1989, a representative of Pliego filled out the 1989 RLI PUP application and presented it to Donald Collado to sign. (R. 779-780; 844; 857) The 1989 application did not disclose any youthful operators or high performance automobiles in the household. (R. 363-365) Relying on Pliego's superior knowledge and experience in the field of insurance, Donald Collado signed the application without first having read it. (R. 608-609) Pliego then signed the application in the space reserved for the "Producer." (R. 365; 782) Pliego's RLI Agent Number, 2020, was also placed in a box at the top of the application designated for such information. (R. 363) Pliego forwarded the signed application and policy premium payment to Poe, net of Pliego's commission. (R. 786) Based upon the application and in accordance with its established procedures, RLI issued personal umbrella liability policy number PUP 103155, to the Collados for the policy period beginning in August 1989. The policy specifically provided in Part III:

We will pay on behalf of anyone covered by this policy:

I. Excess insurance over and above the amount provided for in basic policies, or

\*\*\*

V. Finally, if covered under this policy we will pay, up to the limit of coverage shown in the Declarations, the amount you or a relative are, or would be obligated to pay if at fault or held to be at fault at Court. We will then be entitled to any recovery or salvage.

(R. 1170)

In August of 1989, Pliego also renewed the Collado's primary policy with American Mutual. (R. 870) The 1989 American Mutual Declarations Sheet providing primary coverage effective the same date as the RLI policy, lists the Collados and their 18 year old son, Daron Collado, as resident drivers and a Honda, a Cadillac and an RX-7 as scheduled automobiles. (R. 694)

In the deposition of its corporate representative<sup>3</sup> RLI concedes that Pliego knew of the facts necessary to have accurately completed the 1989 RLI application and reveal that the Collados would no longer meet the PUP Program underwriting guidelines:

#### P96/L5:

- Q. Does RLI agree that J.R. Insurance Agency, through the application for the primary policy or otherwise, was aware of the fact that Daron Collado was a household driver under the age of 26 and was aware of the fact that at least one high performance vehicle, as defined by RLI, and that car being an RX-7?
- A. I think that J.R. Insurance Agency was aware of that. I believe they were aware of that.
- Q. And RLI believes that J.R. Insurance Agency was aware of those facts prior to August of 1989 when the application was completed?
- A. Yes.

(R. 278) Moreover, RLI states in its executed answers to interrogatories dated February 1, 1993:

- Q. When does RLI contend that J.R. Insurance Agency, through any of its employees, or agents (including J.R. Pliego) first knew that the Collados' household consisted of both a "high performance vehicle" (a Mazda RX-7) and a "youthful" driver (person under the age of 26).
- A. The depositions of the Collados and J.R. Pliego revealed that they had a close personal relationship and Mr. Pliego was well aware of this information before the date of the application.

(R. 924)

<sup>3.</sup> A corporate representative testifies on behalf of a corporate entity. Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.310(b)(6).

On February 4, 1990, Daron Collado, while permissively driving the Honda, lost control of the car, crossing into oncoming traffic and flipping over. Passenger Stephen Buckles was killed and passengers James Harbin and Jason Almerico were seriously injured. (R. 1-5)

Almerico prosecuted claims against Daron Collado, Donald Collado and Grace Collado. American Mutual accepted the defense and promptly tendered its \$250,000 limits to Almerico in exchange for a release in favor of its insureds. (R. 1132-1133) Despite numerous demands and offers to settle for its policy limits, RLI refused to involve itself in settlement of Almerico and Phoenix's excess claims against the Collados. (R. 1132-33; 1143; 1136-37; 1265-66; 1267-69) On July 18, 1991, a demand was made on behalf of Almerico and Phoenix for a tender of RLI's policy limits in exchange for a release. (R. 1132-1133) It is undisputed that RLI received this demand and responded by stating that, "RLI continues to deny that there is coverage available under the umbrella policy in question." (R. 1135-1137; 1265) RLI was advised of the further opportunity to settle the entirety<sup>4</sup> of the claims against the Collados for RLI's \$1 million policy limits. (R. 1267 - 1271) RLI similarly refused to recognize any contractual obligation to settle the claims. (R. 1268)

In the absence of RLI coverage, the Collados were financially unable to accept the settlement offer. (R. 1268) Upon RLI's refusal to settle the personal injury claims against the Collados, they entered into a stipulation for judgment and assignment of rights with Almerico and Phoenix as the only possible means of limiting their personal exposure.<sup>5</sup> (R. 1267-1271) A stipulated judgment was entered by the court having jurisdiction over Almerico and Phoenix's claims in the amount of one million, five hundred thousand dollars (\$1,500,000.00) on March 18, 1992. (R. 118; 1140; 1142-1143) It is undisputed that the stipulated judgment and assignment

<sup>4.</sup> The opportunity to settle then included claims for the injuries and damages of Almerico, Phoenix, Stephen Buckles, James Harbin, Prudential Ins. Co. of America (Harbin's subrogated health insurer) and Fernando Fernandez (driver of the oncoming vehicle Daron Collado crossed over and struck).

<sup>5.</sup> On March 9, 1992, the Collados assigned their rights against RLI to James B. Harbin, Prudential Insurance Company of America, Fernando Fernandez, Jason Almerico and Travelers Insurance Company (Phoenix). (R. 119-120) As part of the agreement, Almerico, Travelers Insurance Company and the Collados stipulated to a judgment in the amount of \$1,500,000.00, to bear interest at the rate of 12% per year.

of rights are the product of good faith negotiations and represent a reasonable value for the catastrophic injuries sustained by Jason Almerico. (R. 1148-1149)<sup>6</sup>

Procedurally, the instant case was commenced as a declaratory judgment action brought by RLI against the Collados and American Mutual seeking a declaration of rescission.<sup>7</sup> (R. 1-72) RLI asserts that it did not have knowledge of facts material to its acceptance of the Collados risks. RLI has affirmed that the only basis for the denial of coverage and attempted rescission is the existence of a driver under the age of 26, together with an RX-7 in the household. (R. 465) In the absence of recision on this ground, RLI concedes the February 4, 1990, accident would be covered under the Collado's policy. (R. 465)

As judgment creditors of the Collados, and as the express assignees of the named insureds, Almerico and Phoenix intervened in this action to protect their pecuniary interests. (R. 79-82; 84-87; 126)<sup>8</sup> Almerico and Phoenix answered the RLI complaint and raised as an affirmative defense that RLI was estopped from rescinding the policy because its application was completed by RLI's agent with full knowledge of the facts asserted by RLI to have been omitted. (R. 100-101) Almerico and Phoenix also counterclaimed against RLI for declaratory judgment, breach of contract, bad faith and vicarious liability for the negligence of Pliego.

Count I of the counterclaim seeks a declaratory judgment affirming the policy and its coverage for the Collados' legal liability for Almerico and Phoenix's damages. It alleges that the application was completed by RLI's actual and/or apparent agent, and that the Collados relied upon Pliego's superior knowledge and skill in completing the application and did not read it prior to signing it. (R. 103-104) It further alleged that the omitted facts were known to the agent at

<sup>6.</sup> Upon entry of the Final Judgment American Mutual paid \$250,000.00 in exchange for partial satisfaction.

<sup>7.</sup> American Mutual was dismissed as a party by RLI and is not a party to this appeal.

<sup>8.</sup> The settlement and trust agreement between Almerico and Phoenix provides that Almerico agreed that Travelers (Phoenix) as his uninsured motorist carrier was entitled to subrogate for recovery of its limits (\$600,000.00). (R. 111) An addendum to the agreement was executed on May 7, 1992, again, granting Almerico sole rights to any moneys paid under the American Mutual policy, and Travelers (Phoenix) the exclusive right to the next \$600,000.00, plus 12% interest and the cost of prosecution as well as attorney's fees. (R. 114-117) Thereafter, any additional recovery was to go to Almerico.

the time he prepared the RLI application, such that RLI had actual or constructive knowledge of the facts necessary to complete the application and was, therefore, estopped from rescinding the policy. (R. 104)

Count II asserts breach of contract. It alleges that the policy imposes a duty upon RLI to make its liability limits available to protect the Collados from damages in excess of the underlying coverage. (R. 105) Count II states that RLI breached its contractual duties by rejecting the Collados' demand that it tender its policy limit to effectuate the releases prior to the entry of any judgment against the Collados. (R. 105) As a direct and proximate result of the breach, a judgment was entered against the Collados which has not been satisfied except to the extent of the partial satisfaction reflecting the primary carrier's limit of \$250,000.00. (R. 105)

Count III asserts bad faith refusal to afford coverage and settle the claim. (R. 106-107) Count IV alleges vicarious liability for Pliego's negligence in failing to procure the requested umbrella coverage. (R. 108-109) Only the declaratory judgment and breach of contract counts are at issue before this Court.

RLI generally denied the material allegations and raised, among others, the defense that Pliego was not its agent and, therefore, had no authority to act on behalf of RLI. (R. 130-133)

Phoenix and Almerico sought partial summary judgment, maintaining that RLI was estopped from rescinding the policy. (R. 139-142) They argued that Pliego was both a statutory agent of RLI pursuant to Florida Statute, § 627.342 and a common-law agent of RLI. (R. 139-142) They further maintained that the application was completed and countersigned by employees of Pliego, who, for at least two years, had been acting as an agent/producer for RLI in completing applications and administering the issuance of RLI personal umbrella policies as part of a network of Florida insurance agents administered by Poe on behalf of RLI. (R. 140) Accordingly, they asserted, any errors or omissions of material facts within Pliego's knowledge were attributable to RLI.

Almerico and Phoenix further asserted that, although the application submitted to RLI did not reflect the existence of youthful drivers as residents of the Collado household, nor did it reflect an RX-7 automobile, those facts were within the knowledge of Pliego, who knew the

family and also produced the primary policy. (R. 140) The named insured, Donald Collado, did not complete the application and did not read it. Instead, the Collados relied upon Pliego who had been provided with all requested and otherwise necessary information to complete the application. (R. 140-141) Almerico and Phoenix maintained that an insured was not bound by errors or omissions in policy applications committed by the insurer's agent, and, further, that the insured could rely upon the agent's superior skill and knowledge in filling out the application. Thus, Almerico and Phoenix claimed entitlement to a partial summary judgment on the issue of RLI's liability for the coverage afforded under the policy. (R. 141-142)

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