SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

JASON K. ALMERICO and THE PHOENIX INSURANCE COMPANY,)		
Petitioners,)))	Case No.:	89,131
V.)		
RLI INSURANCE COMPANY,)		
Respondent.)		

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON MERITS

GEORGE A. VAKA, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 374016 FOWLER, WHITE, GILLEN, BOGGS, VILLAREAL & BANKER, P.A. Post Office Box 1438 Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 228-7411 ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should approve the decision of the Second District. It is undisputed that the Collado's insurance application contained material misrepresentations. Mr. Collado now admits that he signed the application and in the absence of fraud or some other special circumstances which do not exist, is presumed to have intended to authenticate and become bound by the contents of the instrument. Under Florida law he may not defend on the basis that he did not read the application prior to signing it.

The Second District appropriately concluded that summary judgment should be entered in favor of RLI because Mr. Pliego was not the agent of RLI. The statute relied upon by Petitioners has no application here. Likewise, the Second District appropriately concluded that as to the procurement of a policy of insurance, independent insurance agents like Mr. Pliego act on behalf of the insured and not the insurer. Moreover, even if Mr. Pliego could be considered the agent of RLI, the limited knowledge that he had concerning the Collado's living arrangements, even if imputed, would be insufficient to estop RLI from rescinding the policy.

If this Court reaches Issue IV raised by the Petitioners, it should conclude that in the absence of a finding of bad faith, an insurer may not be held responsible for extra contractual damages on the basis that it allegedly breached its "duty to indemnify." Here, RLI did not wrongfully deny coverage, but filed a declaratory judgment action to have its rights and the Collado's rights determined. Filing a declaratory judgment action is not a breach

of contract. The Petitioners' entire argument to support their contention is premised upon the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing and the obligation to accept a settlement offer when a reasonably prudent person would do so. Florida courts have routinely held that a determination of whether an insurance carrier acted in bad faith is a question of fact for a jury. It is not a question of law for a judge. Therefore, even if this Court resolved the issue of estoppel against RLI, summary judgment was nevertheless inappropriate as a jury must first determine whether RLI acted in bad faith before it may be held liable for the full amounts of the consent judgments.

ARGUMENT

Before responding to the specifically numbered arguments raised by the Petitioners, RLI believes that it is important to identify certain facts which both frame the issues and are pertinent to the first three arguments on appeal. First, the trial court determined that the misrepresentations in the application were material and that the policy would not have been issued had the true facts been known to RLI. Florida law is clear that an insurer may void an insurance policy when an insured makes a material misrepresentation in an application, if it can establish that the policy would not have been issued if the true facts had been known to it. Continental Assurance Co. v. Carroll Assurance, 485 So. 2d 406 (Fla. 1986); Florida Statutes §627.409(1) (1989). The Petitioners have never challenged that determination.

The Petitioners' first three arguments on appeal after their excuses why they should be relieved from the misrepresentations in the application. To avoid repetition, RLI also believes that it is important to identify certain record facts which are also applicable to the first three arguments. Mr. Collado never discussed his insurance needs with Mr. Pliego or anyone from the J.R. Agency. (R. 609) Likewise, it is undisputed that Mrs. Collado never had any conversation with anyone from the J.R. Agency office concerning the umbrella coverage application of August, 1989. (R. 651) It is also undisputed that Mrs. Collado conceded that she had no idea to what extent Mr. Pliego or his staff knew about the Collado family living arrangements. (R. 654) It is also

uncontested that Derrick Collado, the son who was not involved in the accident, owned his own RX-7 automobile which was not insured by the Collados' primary carrier, American Mutual, but instead was insured through his own policy. (R. 658-659) Finally, it is also undisputed that Mr. Pliego made no representations of whatever kind to the Collados concerning his knowledge of their family living arrangements, the accuracy of the information contained in the application, or that he had some authority from RLI to waive truthful responses to any question contained in the application. With those facts clearly stated, RLI will address the excuses raised by the Petitioners to avoid the legal effect of their misrepresentations contained in Arguments I, II and III as follows:

I.

SECTION 626.342, <u>FLORIDA STATUTES</u> (1989) DOES NOT RENDER RLI CIVILLY LIABLE FOR THE ACTS OF PLIEGO AS IF PLIEGO WERE RLI'S AUTHORIZED OR LICENSED AGENT.

In 1979, the former version of <u>Florida Statute</u> §626.342 provided, in pertinent part:

626.746 Furnishing supplies to unlicensed agent prohibited; civil liability and penalty period -

(1) No insurer shall furnish to any agent or prospective agent named or appointed by it any blank forms, applications, stationery or other supplies to be used in soliciting, negotiating or affecting contracts of insurance on its behalf until such agent shall have received from the department a license to act as an agent and shall have duly qualified as such.

In 1980, the legislature repealed that statute and created Florida Statutes §626.342. The new version of the statute, like the old one, prohibited insurance carriers from providing certain supplies to certain insurance agents. Unlike the predecessor statute, however, the broad prohibition had an exception, that is, the prohibition did not apply if the supplies related to a class of business with respect to which the agent was a licensed agent, whether for that insurer or for another insurer. Specifically, the legislature created Florida Statutes §626.342 which stated:

Furnishing supplies to unlicensed life, disability or general lines agents prohibited; civil liability and penalty -

- (1) No insurer, general agent, or agent, directly or through any representative, shall furnish to any agent any blank forms, applications, stationery or other supplies to be used in soliciting, negotiating, or affecting contracts of insurance on its behalf unless such blank forms, applications, stationery or other supplies relate to a class of business with respect to which such agent is a licensed agent, whether for said insurer or another insurer. [emphasis supplied]
- (3) Any insurer, general agent, or agent that furnishes any of the supplies specified subsection (1)to an agent prospective agent not licensed to represent the insurer and accepts from or writes any insurance business for such agent or agency, shall be subject to civil liability to any insured or such insurer to the same extent and in the manner if such as agent prospective agent had been appointed, licensed or authorized by the insurer or such agent to act in its or his behalf by the Department of Insurance. provisions of this subsection shall not apply to insurance risk apportionment plans under §627.351.

The Petitioners and RLI agree that this Court must view the statute to determine its plain and ordinary meaning. Additionally, this Court must read all of the parts of the statute together in order to achieve a consistent whole. Forsythe v. Longboat Key Beach Erosion Control District, 604 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1992). Where possible, the court must also give full effect to all statutory provisions and construe the related statutory provisions in harmony with one another. Id. Generally, statutes should be construed to give each word effect. Gretz v. Florida Unemployment Appeals Commission, 572 So. 2d 1384 (Fla. 1991). Where possible, it is the duty of the courts to adopt the construction of a statutory provision which harmonizes and reconciles it with other provisions in the same act. Woodgate Development Corp. v. Hamilton Investment Trust, 351 So. 2d 14 (Fla. 1977). If part of the statute appears to have a clear meaning if considered by itself, but when given that meaning is inconsistent with other parts of the same statute or others in para materia, the court will examine the entire act and those in para materia as to ascertain the overall legislative State ex rel Florida Hi-Lai, Inc. v. State Racing intent. Commission, 112 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 1959). Likewise, statutes which relate to the same subject matter should typically receive compatible interpretations. Schorb v. Schorb, 547 So. 2d 985 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). Finally, when reviewing an amended statute, different language contained in the amended statute indicates that there is a different meaning which was intended. Escambia Council on Aging v. Goldsmith, 465 So. 2d 655 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

Relying upon those well established rules, this Court can easily analyze Petitioner's suggested interpretation of Florida Statute, §626.342 and reject it. Their position is contrary to the rules of statutory construction and would render the repeal of former Florida Statute §626.746 and the addition of the new language contained Florida Statute in §626.342 absolutely meaningless. The statute prohibits insurers from furnishing its business materials to any agent unless such forms relate to a class of business for which the agent is a licensed agent. Subsection (2) of the statute penalizes an insurer who furnishes the supplies specified in subsection (1) (supplies relating to a class of business for which the agent is not a licensed agent) and who accepts business from that unqualified agent. Under the plain terms of the statute, an insurer is liable for the conduct of the agent, if and only if two things occur. First, the insurer must provide the agent with forms, respecting a class of business for which he does not hold a proper license. Second, the insurer who has provided the supplies relating to a class of business for which the agent is not licensed must also accept business from that agent. In this case, it is undisputed that J. R. Pliego was a RLI, a licensed property and licensed general lines agent. casualty insurer, provided him forms respecting the very class of business for which Mr. Pliego held a license. Under the plain and ordinary meaning of the statute, it simply has no application here.

The statutes which preceded <u>Florida Statute</u> §626.342 cited by Petitioners, historically provided an absolute prohibition to an

insurer from providing its forms to anyone other than an agent appointed by that insurer. The current statute has an exception to broad prohibition. Under the appropriate rules construction, this Court must assume that when the legislature repealed Florida Statute §626.746 in 1980 and added the new proviso beginning with "unless," that it intended to change the preexisting law. Adopting the Petitioners' argument would render the "unless," meaningless. whole phrase beginning Under the Petitioners interpretation the insurer would always face liability for providing its forms to an insurance agent not appointed by it regardless of the agent's qualifications. That was true under the old statute and there would be no reason to repeal that statute if the legislature intended for the law to be the same.

The cases relied upon by the Petitioners, <u>Gaskins v. General Ins. Co. of Fla.</u>, 397 So. 2d 729 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981) and <u>Brown v. Inter-Ocean Ins. Co.</u>, 438 F. Supp. 951 (N.D. Ga. 1977) interpreted the predecessor statute, <u>Florida Statute §626.746</u>, and its absolute prohibition. Those courts imposed liability upon the insurers for the negligent conduct of the agent when the insurers provided the agents forms and accepted business from them. In light of those decisions, the Legislature amended the statute and specifically authorized insurers like RLI to provide its forms to agents so long as those agents held the appropriate license for the insurance to be sold. It did not create a statute to specifically authorize insurers to engage in this conduct and then, as advocated by Petitioners, create civil liability for the very conduct it

authorized. This conclusion is particularly reasonable when it is considered that Petitioners view could have been accomplished if the Legislature did nothing but renew the previous statute.

The Third District's decision in Gonzalez v. Great Oaks Cas. Ins. Co., 574 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) does not change that conclusion. First and foremost there was no allegation that the policy procured here was obtained through the exchange of business statute. Secondly, unlike the agent in Gonzalez, the facts of record are undisputed that Pliego had absolutely no authority whatsoever to bind RLI. Moreover, this Court's decision in Queens Ins. Co. v. Patterson Drug Co., 74 So. 2d 807, 73 Fla. 665 (1917) is equally inapplicable unlike RLI here, the insurer there never asked the insured about the existence of the condition it attempted to rely upon to deny coverage. Here the Second District correctly concluded Pliego was not RLI's statutory agent and this Court should approve that decision.

II.

PLIEGO WAS NEITHER THE COMMON LAW ACTUAL OR APPARENT AGENT OF RLI.

Aside from the statute, Pliego was not RLI's common law agent either. The evidence was undisputed that Mr. Pliego and his agency had never been appointed as an agent by RLI. (R. 219-220) Instead, the only agent appointed by RLI was Poe and Associates, Inc. (R. 219-220, 856) Here, Mr. Pliego was acting as an insurance broker. Traditionally, Florida courts have held that an insurance broker is the agent of the insured in matters connected with the procurement of insurance. AMI Ins. Agency v. Elie, 394

So. 2d 1061, 1062 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). <u>See also Empire Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Koven</u>, 402 So. 2d 1352, 1353 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981).

In Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Yates, 368 So. 2d 634 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), the Second District determined that a broker who procured coverage through Auto-Owners' licensed agent was not an agent of the insurer, but was the insured's agent. Ms. Yates' agent, Harless, was an authorized agent for several insurance companies, including one which wrote automobile coverage. He was not, however, an agent for any company writing insurance on family vehicles. He obtained family automobile coverage for his customers from the Elmer Johnson Insurance Agency. That agency was an authorized agency for several companies writing the coverage, including Auto-Owners. Harless talked to Elmer Johnson about Ms. Yates' vehicle and obtained from him a blank Auto-Owners insurance application. He took the form to his office, filled it out and returned it to Johnson requesting liability coverage in the amount \$100,000/\$300,000 UM of and coverage in the amount \$15,000/\$30,000. Unbeknownst to Johnson, Harless had signed Yates' name to the application in two places indicated for the signature of the insured. The application contained a provision just above the signatures which stated that pursuant to Florida Statutes, UM coverage was required to be offered in the amount equal to the liability limits unless specifically lower limits were requested. The policy issued with the reduced UM limits. Harless received a commission from Auto-Owners. Prior to obtaining coverage for Ms.

Yates, Harless had obtained other policies from Auto-Owners through Johnson for other customers and had signed their names on the applications. Johnson was completely unaware that Harless had signed applications for his customers. The trial court concluded that Harless had provided Ms. Yates with no information concerning the selection of UM coverage and had signed the application without her authority. As the trial court did here with Pliego and RLI, the court found that the acts of Harless were the acts of Auto-Owners, and Ms. Yates had not rejected UM coverage. The court then ruled that UM coverage was available in the amount of the liability limits.

Auto-Owners appealed, arguing that Harless was an insurance broker who acted as an agent for Ms. Yates rather than for Auto-Owners. The Second District agreed with that argument and reversed the judgment.

Judge Grimes wrote that the distinction between an insurance broker and an agent was that the broker acted as a middleman between the insured and the insurer and solicited insurance from the public under no employment from any special company. An insurance agent, on the other hand, represented an insurer under an employment by the insurer. The court explained that the general rule that an insurance broker is the agent of the insured rather than the insurer is not altered simply because the broker may receive compensation out of the premium. Id. at 636. The court also stated that applying the law to the facts at hand, it was evident that in obtaining coverage, Harless had acted as an

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